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NARRATIVE REPORT TO THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 

INTRODUCTION TO THE HUMBERSIDE POLICE FORCE AREA 
 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the financial performance of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.  These accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2024/25 published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA). 
 
The purpose of the narrative report is to offer interested parties a fair, balanced and easily 
understandable guide to the most significant matters reported in the accounts.  The inevitable use 
of technical language has been kept to a minimum.  A ‘Glossary of Terms’ (to help explain some 
of the technical terms) can be found in the appendices.   
 

ABOUT THE PCC FOR HUMBERSIDE 
 
The Humberside Police Force area is located on the north east coast of England, equidistant from 
London, Edinburgh and Rotterdam.  It covers the local authority areas of the East Riding of 
Yorkshire, Kingston upon Hull, North East Lincolnshire and North Lincolnshire. 
 
It has a total area of c1,300 square miles around the Humber Estuary and has a population of 
over 900,000.  Nearly 90% of the area is rural.  Its main settlement and commercial capital is 
Kingston upon Hull. Major settlements include the port of Grimsby, Cleethorpes, Bridlington, 
Scunthorpe, Beverley and Goole, the UK’s most inland port. 
 
The area maintains its strong maritime heritage and the port infrastructure accounts for more than 
15% of the UK overseas trade.  It is estimated that one million people a year travel to and from 
continental Europe by ferry via Hull and a further quarter of a million people travel on domestic 
and international flights from Humberside Airport.  
 
Jonathan Evison is the PCC (re-elected in May 2024), and Chris Todd is the Chief Constable 
appointed in April 2025.  The PCC’s Police and Crime Plan covers the period 2024-29.  
 
The Chief Constable has developed a ‘Plan on a page’, refreshed in December 2023, which is 
included on the next page. 
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POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER PERFORMANCE 
 
Our journey over the last year as the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) 
 
We continued to make things better for you and our work remains far wider than oversight of the 
police. 
 

The OPCC replicates the Vision, Mission and Values set out in the Police and Crime Plan.  Our 
organisational values have the acronym of ACE IT! 

Ambition, Compassion, Enabling, Integrity and Trust 

The new Police and Crime Plan runs from 2024 to 2029 and includes three aims: 
1. Engaged, Resilient and Inclusive Communities – provide pathways for everyone to contribute 

to the safety of our communities. 

2. Safer Communities – focus activities on interventions that significantly impact on local crime 

levels. 

3. Effective Organisations – make the system work better for local communities. 

Each of the aims has a series of outcomes and objectives that demonstrate what we will do to 
achieve the aims.  The plan exists to provide strategic direction to the Force and all partners 
operating around community safety. 
 
The OPCC continued to engage with partners to promote the aims of the Police and Crime Plan, 
notably the statutory partners of the Community Safety Partnerships and members of the Criminal 
Justice Board as well as other stakeholders of interest. 
 
The Police and Crime Plan can be found on the OPCC website at https://www.humberside-
pcc.gov.uk/ 
 
The structure of the OPCC continued to flex and change to meet the needs of the Police and 
Crime Plan and any additional responsibilities provided to the PCC through legislative and 
changes. 
 
Our two teams: 

• Assurance and Statutory Duties Team: continued to support the PCC to carry out their 
statutory responsibilities of holding the Chief Constable to account, as well as ensuring 
business as usual was maintained for a broad portfolio of activity such as community 
engagement and involvement of volunteers in scrutiny, providing a professional support and 
administrative function, managing the Independent Custody Visitor (ICV) scheme, providing 
communication and media expertise, acting as the point of contact for members of the public 
wishing to enact their right of review for the way a complaint was handled by the police, 
managing Freedom of Information requests, and ensuring transparency in decision making. 

 

• Policy and Partnerships Team: continued to support the PCC around commissioning 
services, funding, partnerships and public health programmes, as well as supporting the 
Criminal Justice Board, managing grants provision with the four Community Safety 
Partnerships, co-ordinating communication with the business community, co-ordinating grant 
provision and communication with Youth Offending Services and Safeguarding Boards, 
commissioning key services including victim-related services, putting in place robust 
arrangements to manage contracts, leading the bidding process for grants and funding 
opportunities, managing the Affected By Crime (ABC) hub, leading a partnerships approach to 
reduce domestic abuse through a public health methodology, working collaboratively to 
address serious violence through the Violence Prevention Partnership (VPP), and creating 
opportunities through our Education Partnership work. 

 
Our Delivery Plan 2024-25 outlined the range of work undertaken during the year  

(https://www.humberside-pcc.gov.uk/corporate-information/reports-plans), and in mid-
2025 the Annual Report covering 2024-25 performance will be published. 

https://www.humberside-pcc.gov.uk/
https://www.humberside-pcc.gov.uk/
https://www.humberside-pcc.gov.uk/corporate-information/reports-plans
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CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER’S STATEMENT 
 
This is the Statements of Accounts for the PCC for Humberside for 2024/25.  
 
The accounts provide a record of the financial position and performance for the year and 
incorporate transactions relating to the Force, the PCC and for the PCC Group reflecting the 
combined position of both organisations.  
 
The PCC Group position represents the consolidated financial statements of the PCC and the 
subsidiary, the Chief Constable.  Where the PCC Group position differs from the PCC position 
this is made clear in the financial statements and notes. 
 
Separate statutory financial statements have been prepared for the Chief Constable. 
 
Annual Governance Statements for the PCC and for Humberside Police for 2024/25 have been 
published separately and are available on the PCC and Force websites. 
 
Explanation of Accounting Statements 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting. 
 
The financial statements reflect the current legislative framework as well as the local 
arrangements operating in practice.  Key elements of this framework include: 
 

• The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA); 

• The Home Office Financial Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces for 

England and Wales and Fire and Rescue Authorities created under Section 4A of the Fire 

and Rescue Services Act 2004 (July 2018). 

 
The Corporate Governance Framework includes:- 

• A statement of corporate governance – statutory framework and local policy; 

• A code of corporate governance – setting out how the good governance core principles 

will be implemented; 

• A scheme of corporate governance – defines the parameters within which the corporations 

sole will conduct their business; 

• Separate policy and procedures for each corporation sole, with protocols where they 

operate jointly. 

 
The basic position remains that the Commissioner is responsible for the finances of the whole 
PCC Group and controls the assets, most of the liabilities and reserves.  The PCC received all 
income and funding and made all payments for the PCC Group from the PCC Police Fund. 
 
In turn, the Chief Constable continued to have the duty to fulfil prescribed functions under the 
PRSRA within the annual budget (set by the PCC in consultation with the Chief Constable) in line 
with the approved Corporate Governance Framework.  This Framework sets out how the two 
“corporations sole” will discharge their respective responsibilities. 
 
The Statement of Responsibilities details the responsibilities of the PCC/Chief and the Chief 
Finance Officer/S.151 Officer for the Accounts.  This statement is signed and dated by Chief 
Finance Officer/S.151 Officer under a statement that the accounts give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the PCC Group at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the 
year ended 31 March. 
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The Movement in Reserves Statements shows the movement in the year on the different 
reserves held by the PCC Group.  This statement is split into usable and unusable reserves; the 
usable reserves are those that can be used by the PCC to fund expenditure; and the unusable 
reserves are those reserves that are required to mitigate the effect of some transactions on council 
tax and those reserves that are created to mitigate unrealised gains and losses. 
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements shows the accounting cost of 
providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the 
amount to be funded from taxation. The PCC raises taxation in accordance with regulations which 
are different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in 
Reserves Statements (the movement on usable reserves). 
 
The Balance Sheets which shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the PCC 
Group and the PCC at the Balance Sheet date. 
 
The Cash Flow Statement which shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the 
year.  This statement shows how the PCC generates and uses its cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. 
 
The Pension Fund Account which shows the movements relating to the police pension fund 
 
The notes to the accounting records provide more detail about the accounting policies and 
individual transactions.  
 
2024/25 Financial Year 
 
The PCC approved an original budget in February 2024 of £245.334m which following a mid-year 

financial review was revised to £247.473m after consultation with Branch Commanders / Heads 

of Department in conjunction with the Force Finance Team. The budget was realigned in 

November to reflect these changes and monitoring against this revised budget was undertaken 

during the second half of the year. 

 
Actual expenditure for the year was £247.957m, an overspend of £0.484m. This results from the 

investigation into Legacy Independent Funeral Directors, the largest in Humberside Police history. 

With no additional government funding allocated for this, the OPCC set up a specifically tailored 

victim support service. 

 

Reserves at the start of 2024/25 totalled £25.693m. The total level of reserves at 31 March 2025 

stands at £17.236m.   

 
The original savings target within the Medium-Term Resource Strategy (MTRS) for 2024/25 was 

£1.500m, the Force managed to achieve savings of £1.588m.  The main areas of savings were 

achieved through: 

• Contract/ Non Pay Savings (£1.452m) 

• Full year impact of 23/24 savings, partially offset by additional Corporate Comms 

resources (£0.067m) 

• Robotic process automation (£0.054m) 

• Disposal of Gordon Street (£0.015m) 
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A summary of capital performance compared to budget is shown in the table below:- 

 

CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME 

2024/25 

BUDGET £m 

2024/25 

ACTUAL £m 

VARIANCE 

£m 

Estates 

Programme 

4.894 3.725 1.169 

ICT Programme 2.622 2.725 (0.103) 

Vehicles & 

Equipment 

2.985 2.787 0.197 

Grand Total 10.500 9.237 1.263 

 
The main area of expenditure during 2024/25 was the Estates Programme. 

 

Financing of Capital Expenditure 
 
The PCC has a rolling capital programme that is reviewed throughout the year.  The programme 
is financed by external borrowing, capital receipts and revenue contributions. 
 
Humberside PCC Reserves 
 
Balances at 1 April 2024 stood at £25.693m. £7.973m was utilised during 2024/25. At the year 
end £0.484m was transferred from the Change Management reserve. The balances at 31 March 
2025 now stand at £17.236m. 
 
Future Spending Plans 
 
The PCC has published a MTRS for 2025/26 to 2029/30 which sets out the overall shape of the 
PCCs budget.  It establishes how available resources will best deliver the Police and Crime Plan 
and mitigate corporate risks identified.  The current level of PWLB borrowing is £105.231m at 31 
March 2025. The operational boundary is £150.000m and the authorised limit is £180.000m (these 
are part of the PCC’s prudential indicators that have been previously agreed in the PCC’s 
Treasury Management report; Published March 2024). 

 
International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19) 
 
IAS 19 requires employers to report the full cost of pension benefits as they are earned, regardless 
of whether they have been paid for. The total 2024/25 long term pension asset has been capped 
by way of an asset ceiling to £0m (2023/24 £0m on the Local Government Pension Scheme) The 
total long term pension liability is £1,569m (2023/24 was £1,738m) of which £1,569.5m relates to 
the Police Pension Scheme and £0.5m relates to the Local Government Pension Scheme (the 
2023/24 pension liability included £1,737m relating to the Police Pension Scheme). It should be 
noted that IAS 19 does not impact upon the level of balances held by the PCC.  (Under IAS 19 
injury awards are now recognised in the PCC Group accounts). 

 
Humberside Police Pension Fund Account 
 
The Financial Statements include a separate section for the Humberside Police Pension Fund 
Account.  Under the pension funding arrangements each PCC in England is required by legislation 
to operate a Pension Fund and the amounts that must be paid into and out of the fund are specified 
by regulation. 
 
Change in Statutory Function 
 
There have been no changes to the PCC’s statutory functions during 2024/25. 
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Significant Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
There have been no significant changes to the accounting policies used by the PCC. 

 
Material Events after 31 March 
 
There have been no material events after the 31 March balance sheet date. 

 
Going Concern 
 
The MTRS ensures a balanced budget over the medium term.  The PCC for Humberside and 
Humberside Police will remain a Going Concern. 

 
Further Information 
 
You can also find more information about the finances of the PCC and the Force on the respective 
websites and www.humberside.police.uk 
 
Acknowledgement 
 
I would like to express my appreciation to colleagues within the Force Finance Team for their 
assistance in compiling the financial statements.  I would also like to thank the Assistant Chief 
Officer (Resources), Chief Finance Officer and other operational managers within the Force for 
their support.   
 
Martyn Ransom FCCA  
Chief Finance Officer to the Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside – May 2025 

 

http://www.humberside.police.uk/
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Independent auditor’s report to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Humberside and Group 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

 

The Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s 
Responsibilities 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is required: 
▪ To make arrangements for the proper administration of financial 

affairs and to ensure that one of the officers (the Chief Finance 
Officer) has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  

▪ To manage its affairs to ensure economic, efficient and effective 
use of resources and to safeguard its assets. 

▪ To approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
I approve this Statement of Accounts. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Date 

 
19 February 2026 

Jonathan Evison 
Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Humberside 
 

  

Chief Finance 
Officer’s 
Responsibilities 

The Chief Finance Officer of the PCC is responsible for the preparation 
of the PCC’s statement of accounts which, in accordance with the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
(the ‘Code of Practice’), issued by the CIPFA is required to present 
fairly the financial position of the PCC and the PCC Group at the 
accounting date, and its income and expenditure for the year ended 
31 March 2025. 
 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Finance Officer has:  

▪  
▪ Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them 

consistently; 
▪ Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and      

prudent; 
▪ Complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has also: 
▪ Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 
▪ Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities. 
 

I certify that the attached Statement of Accounts present a true and fair view of the position 
of the PCC and the PCC Group as at 31 March 2025 and the income and expenditure for 
the year. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Date 

 
     
 
 
 
19 February 2026 

Martyn Ransom 
Chief Finance Officer 
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE PCC GROUP 
 

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year for the PCC Group of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation.  PCCs raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with statutory requirements; 
this may be different from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and Funding Analysis note and the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. 
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE PCC 
 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year for the PCC of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, 
rather than the amount to be funded from taxation.  PCCs raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with statutory requirements; this may 
be different from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and Funding Analysis and the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. Resources of the PCC consumed at the request of the Chief Constable during the year are shown for comparative purposes. The 
consolidated accounting cost and funding for the PCC Group for the year is shown on the preceding page. 
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE PCC 
GROUP 

 
This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the PCC Group, 
analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can currently be used to fund expenditure or reduce 
local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. It shows how the movements in year of the PCC 
Group’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the 
amounts chargeable to council tax for the year.  The Increase / Decrease in Year line shows the 
statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments.  
 
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES – PCC GROUP 
 

 
 

 

A breakdown of the PCC Group Adjustments between Accounting and Funding Basis under 
Regulations can be found in Note 16 of the accounts. 
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE PCC 
 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the PCC, 
analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can currently be used to fund expenditure or reduce 
local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. It shows how the movements in year of the PCC’s 
reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts 
chargeable to council tax for the year. The Increase / Decrease in Year line shows the statutory 
General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments.  
 
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES – PCC 
 

 
 

 

A breakdown of the PCC Adjustments between Accounting and Funding Basis under Regulations 
can be found in Note 17 of the accounts. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 



Balance Sheet 

19 
 

BALANCE SHEET FOR THE PCC GROUP AND PCC 
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the PCC Group and the PCC. The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by 
the reserves held by the PCC Group and the PCC.   
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PCC AND THE PCC GROUP 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the PCC Group and 
the PCC during the reporting period.  As there is no distinction between the PCC Group and the PCC 
movements, there is no separate statement for the PCC. The statement shows how the PCC Group 
and the PCC generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, 
investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a 
key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the PCC Group and the PCC are funded by way 
of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the PCC Group/PCC. 
Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which 
are intended to contribute to the PCC Group and the PCC’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising 
from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. 
borrowing) to the PCC Group/PCC. 
 

 
 
Note 37 in the accounts provides further details of the figures in the above Cash Flow statement. 
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE PCC AND THE PCC GROUP 
 
Accounting Policies 
The financial statements must meet and are prepared in accordance with the accounting requirements 
of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, supported by 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  Where the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting 
policy which is judged to be the most appropriate to the circumstances of the PCC Group/PCC for the 
purpose of presenting fairly the position of the PCC Group/PCC has been selected.  The policies 
adopted are described below.  They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the financial statements. 
 
Group accounts 
The financial statements included here represent the accounts for the PCC and the PCC Group.  The 
term “PCC Group” is used to indicate individual transactions and policies of the PCC and the Chief 
Constable.  The identification of the PCC as the holding organisation and the requirement to produce 
group accounts stems from the powers and responsibilities of the PCC under the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011.  The Chief Constable is a subsidiary organisation of the PCC.  The 
transactions and balances of the PCC and the Chief Constable have been consolidated into the PCC 
Group financial statements using the line-by-line method. 
 
Each reporting period the PCC Group will review its interests and influence on all types of entities 
including, but not limited to, other PCCs and similar statutory bodies, common good trust funds, 
charities, companies, joint committees and other joint arrangements.  If appropriate, such other 
entities will be included in the group accounts prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 
 
Accounting convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.  Where appropriate financial assets and 
liabilities have been impaired or discounted to bring them to current value. 
 
Going Concern 
After making enquires, the PCC has formed a judgement at the time of approving the financial 
statements that there is a reasonable expectation that the PCC and PCC Group or its successors has 
access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  For this 
reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  The 
liabilities for pensions are unrealised liabilities at the balance sheet date and will fall due as employees 
retire over their working lives. 
 
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies  
In the application of the PCC Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.   
 
The critical judgements made in the financial statements are in regard to the degree of uncertainty 
about future levels of central government funding and the impact of budget cuts to be achieved.  
However, the PCC Group has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an 
indication that the assets of the PCC Group might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities 
or reduce levels of service provision. 
 
Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
The financial statements contain estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the PCC 
Group about the future or that are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made taking into account 
historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors.  Because balances cannot be 
determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and 
estimates.  The items in the PCC and PCC Group’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March for which there is 
significant risks of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
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• Pensions Liability 
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions is dependable on a number of complex judgements 

relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in 

retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. Actuaries are 

engaged to provide expert advice about the assumptions to be applied for both the Police and 

Local Government Pension Schemes. 

The carrying amount of the PCC Group pension liability on 31 March 25 was £1,569m. 

The effects on the net pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be measured and 

a full sensitivity analysis around the effect on the net pension liability of changes in assumptions 

made can be found in Note 31 to these accounts.  

However, the assumptions interact in complex ways. During the financial year, the force’s 

actuaries advised that the net pensions liability had decreased by £0.933m as a result of estimates 

being corrected as a result of experience and decreased by £245.883m attributable to updating 

of the assumptions.  

• Property Valuation 
Valuation of assets and consideration of impairment depends on a number of complex judgements 

and a firm of Valuers is engaged to provide expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. 

Many of the properties within the PCC Group balance sheet are valued as specialist properties, 

which are valued on a depreciated replacement cost (DRC) basis. After the valuation date rates 

of inflation have fluctuated and therefore the cost of replacing assets would be likely to change.  

The valuation date of properties was 31 January 2025. A review was undertaken as at the 31 

March 2025 which confirmed that the DRC valuations of the force buildings in the force 2024/25 

valuation programme had approximately increased by £0.771m between the valuation date and 

the 31 March 2025. Therefore, the valuations for these properties have been amended to account 

for this increase in value in the time period.  

The current value of properties held on balance sheet as at 31 March 2025 is £152.047m. It is 

estimated that if the value of land and buildings where to increase or decrease by 10% this would 

result in a change in valuations of £15.2m. 

Additionally, properties are valued on a four-year rolling programme, with the top 20% of the 

highest valued properties being revalued every financial year. Based on the assets valued in the 

year, the average decrease in the value of property assets was 4.6%.  If this percentage decrease 

was also applied to the assets that were not revalued in the year, this would decrease the Balance 

Sheet value by £0.789m. This is not considered material enough to warrant a full valuation of all 

properties.  

• Property, Plant and Equipment - Depreciation 

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are dependent on assumptions about the level of 
repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to individual assets.  If in the current 
economic climate the PCC Group was unable to sustain its current spending on repairs and 
maintenance, the useful lives assigned to assets would be brought into doubt.   
 
If the useful life of assets is reduced depreciation increases and the carrying amount of assets 

falls. It is estimated that the annual depreciation charge for buildings would increase by £0.254m 

for every year that useful lives had to be reduced. 
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Revenue 
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when performance occurs, and is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration receivable.  A de-minimis threshold of £10,000 is in place for 
year-end accruals. 
 
Employee Benefits 
 

• Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end, and 
include benefits such as wages, paid annual leave, paid sick pay and non-monetary benefits for 
current employees.  These benefits are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
employee renders service to the PCC Group.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday 
entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before 
the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year.  The accrual is 
charged to surplus or deficit on the provision of services, but then reversed out through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial 
year in which the holiday absence occurs 

 

• Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the PCC Group to terminate 
a member of staff’s employment before their normal retirement date or their decision to accept 
voluntary redundancy.  These costs are charged on an accruals basis as an expense in the 
surplus or deficit on the provision of services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (CIES) when the PCC Group is demonstrably committed to the termination of the 
employment of an individual or group of employees or making an offer to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. 
 

• Post Employment Benefits         

The PCC Group participates in pension schemes for Police Officers and for Police staff.  All of the 
schemes provide members with defined benefits related to pay and service. 

 

• Police Officers 

The 2015 Police Pension Scheme (previously 1987, 2006 and 2015) is a contributory occupational 
pension scheme.  Officers pay contributions from their pensionable pay based on salary bandings.  
The contribution rates are set nationally by the Home Office.  The PCC Group accounts for Police 
Pensions through the Police Pension Fund Accounts.  The cost to the PCC Group is via an 
employers’ contribution and a charge for Officers who retire on ill health.  Any balance on the 
Pension Fund Accounts is received from or paid to Central Government. 

 
Injury awards are not part of the Police Pension Fund and are paid out of the PCC Group’s budget. 

 

• Police Staff 

The PCC is an admitted body to the East Riding Pension Fund, which is administered by East 
Riding of Yorkshire Council.  Police staff are eligible to join the Local Government Pension 
Scheme which has varying contribution rates based on members’ salaries.  The PCC makes 
employers’ contributions as required into the East Riding Pension Fund. 
 
The East Riding Pension Fund Scheme is operated under the regulatory framework for the Local 
Government Pension Scheme and the governance of the scheme is the responsibility of the 
pensions committee of East Riding of Yorkshire Council. Policy is determined in accordance with 
the Public Fund Regulations.  

 
The PCC Group/PCC have fully adopted IAS 19 Employee Benefits.  The financial statements reflect 
the commitment to make up any shortfall in attributable net assets in the Pension Fund.  The overall 
pension liability is included in the Balance Sheet of the PCC Group and service costs are reflected in 
the CIES. 
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Expenses 
Expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received.  
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. 
 
Whilst all expenditure is paid for by the PCC, including the remuneration of police officers and staff, 
the actual recognition in the respective PCC and Chief Constable’s financial statements is based on 
economic benefit. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

• Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis if: 
 

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administration purposes; 

• it is probable that service potential will be provided to the PCC Group; 

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and 

• the item has a cost of at least £10,000 

 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly 
different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets if they have a cost of over 
25% of the whole asset, and they are depreciated over their own useful economic lives.  

 

• Valuation 

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly 
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  All assets 
are measured subsequently at current value. 

 
Land and buildings used by the PCC Group are stated in the Balance Sheet at their revalued 
amounts, being their current value at the date of valuation less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  The PCC Group undertakes a rolling programme of 
revaluations, with the top 20% of the highest valued properties being revalued every financial 
year.  The remaining properties within the Force estate are revalued on a four-year rolling 
programme basis, based on the four local authority areas where the properties are located. The 
revalued assets in the 2024/25 accounts cover 89% of the total Gross Book Value of properties 
held on the Balance Sheet.   
 
Current values are determined as follows:- 

 

• Land and non-specialised buildings – the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing 

use value (EUV) 

• Specialised buildings with no market based evidence – the depreciated replacement cost as 

an estimate of current value (DRC) 

• Vehicles, plant and equipment – historic cost less accumulated depreciation (as a proxy for 

current replacement cost)      

• Surplus property – fair value, estimated at highest and best use from a market participant’s 

perspective.  

  

Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any impairment loss.  Cost 
includes professional fees and other costs directly attributable to the construction of qualifying 
assets.   
 
Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.   
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An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the Revaluation Reserve except when it reverses 
an impairment previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to 
the extent of the decrease previously charged there.  A decrease on revaluation is recognised as 
an impairment charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the 
reserve for the asset, and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Gains and losses recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the CIES. 
 

• Disposals 

Capital receipts over £10,000 from the sale of non-current assets are held in the Capital Receipts 
Unapplied account until such time as they are used to finance other capital expenditure or to repay 
debt.  Individual receipts of less than £10,000 are shown as income within the CIES.  Gains and 
losses on the disposal of non-current assets are recognised in the CIES. 

 
Intangible Assets 
 

• Recognition 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale 
separately from the rest of the PCC Group’s business or which arise from contractual or other 
legal rights.  They are recognised only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential will be provided to the PCC Group; where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, 
and where the cost is at least £10,000. 

 
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at current value.  Software that is 
integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of 
the relevant item of property, plant and equipment.  Software that is not integral to the operation 
of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.  Expenditure 
on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is 
incurred.  Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been 
demonstrated: 
 

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use 

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it 

• the ability to sell or use the intangible asset 

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential 

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible 

asset and sell or use it 

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development 

 

• Measurement 

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met.  Where no internally-
generated intangible assets can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in 
which it is incurred. 
 
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value by reference to an active 
market, or where no active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent 
assets basis).  Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects 
of increases in development costs and technological advances. 
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Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 
Freehold land, properties under construction and vehicles in the process of preparation for operational 
use are not depreciated.  Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to Cost of Services 
in the CIES to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-
current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, on a straight line basis.  
Depreciation and amortisation are not taken on additions to the capital base for the year.  The 
estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the PCC Group expects to obtain economic 
benefits or service potential from the asset.  This is specific to the PCC Group and may be shorter 
than the physical life of the asset itself.  Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each 
year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.  
 
The approximate average useful lives (depreciation periods) are included below: 
 

• Buildings              25 to 65 years 

• Vehicles       1 to 11 years 

• Boat            10 years 

• Equipment             5 years 

• Intangibles                       5 years    

                              

At each reporting period end, the PCC Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its 
tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If there is indication of an 
impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has 
been a loss and, if so, its amount. 
 
If there has been an impairment loss, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount, with the 
loss charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the Reserve for the 
asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the 
amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss.  The reversal of 
the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there 
and thereafter to the Revaluation Reserve. 
 
The PCC Group is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation, impairment or amortisation.  
However it is required to make an annual provision from its revenue budget to contribute towards the 
reduction in its overall borrowing requirement, the minimum revenue provision (MRP).  The PCC 
Group has adopted, from 1 April 2019 the Asset Life Method to provide for MRP calculated by using 
the annuity method, for any capital expenditure funded from borrowing.  MRP is not provided for 
assets in the course of construction. 
 
Government Grants 
All grants and contributions will only be credited to the CIES when all the grant conditions for the 
discharge of its specific use have been met.  Grants where the conditions have not been satisfied are 
carried in the Balance Sheet as Grants Receipts in Advance.  When the conditions have been 
satisfied, the grant or contribution will be credited to the CIES, either to cost of services or taxation 
and non-specific grant income.  
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Leases 
The PCC Group classifies contracts as leases based on their substance. Contracts and parts of 
contracts are analysied to determine whether they convey the right to control the use of an individual 
asset, through rights both to obtain substantially all the economic benefits or service potential from 
the asset and to direct its use. This includes arrangements with nil consideration, peppercorn or 
nominal payments.  
 
The PCC Group as lessee 
 
Initial Measurement 
 
Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets with a corresponding liability at the date from which the 
leased asset is available for use (or the IFRS 16 transition date of 1 April 2024 if later). The leases 
are typically for fixed periods in excess of one year but may have extension or break clause options 
within them. The PCC Group uses the best available information at the time of preparing the accounts 
to determine if any of these options will be taken.  
 
The PCC Group initially recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments, 
discounting by applying the PCC Groups incremental borrowing rate wherever the interest rate implicit 
in the lease cannot be determined. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability 
include fixed payments, variable lease payments which depend on an index or rate and lease 
payments in an optional renewal period. 
 
The right-of-use asset is measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted for any prepayments 
made, plus any direct costs incurred to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or restore the 
underlying asset on the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.  
 
However, for peppercorn, nominal payments or nil consideration leases, the asset is measured at fair 
value.  
 
Subsequent Measurement 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured using either the cost model or the fair value model. 
The PCC Group considers the cost model to be a reasonable proxy except for: 
 

- assets held under non-commercial leases; 

- leases where rent reviews do not necessarily reflect market conditions; 

- leases with terms of more than five years that do not have any provision for rent reviews; 

- leases where rent reviews will be at periods of more than five years. 

For leases which do not meet the requirements to measure using the cost model, the asset is carried 
at a revalued amount using the fair value model.  
 
The right-of-use asset is depreciated straight-line over the shorter period of the remaining lease term 
and useful life of the underlying asset as at the date of adoption.  
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 
The liability is remeasured when: 
 

- there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in index or rate 

- there is a change in the PCC Groups estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a 

residual value guarantee 
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- the PCC Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 

termination option, or 

- there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 

When such a remeasurement occurs, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset. 
 
Low Value and Short Term Lease exemptions 
 
As permitted by the CIPFA Code, the PCC Group excludes leases:  
 

- for low value items that cost less than £10,000 when new, provided they are not highly 

dependant on or integrated with other items, and 

- with a term shorter than 12 months 

Lease rental payments for these exemptions are posted against the relevant command area within 
the surplus or deficit against service provision.  
 
The PCC Group as lessor 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  
 
Where the PCC Group grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, 
the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to revenue in the CIES.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from 
the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.  In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of 
bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the PCC Group and 
the PCC’s cash management. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the PCC Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the PCC Group will be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  In establishing a provision a charge 
is made as an expense to the CIES in the year that the PCC Group/PCC becomes aware of the 
obligation.  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties.  
The provision stays on the Balance Sheet, and when payments are made, the charge is made against 
the provision. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it 
becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required (or a lower settlement 
than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 
 
Contingencies 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the PCC Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not 
probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot 
be measured sufficiently reliably.  A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of payment 
is remote. 
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A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and existence of which will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the PCC Group.  A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.   
 
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value. 
 
Reserves 
The PCC Group and the PCC set aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is 
incurred, it is charged to the CIES in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the account.  
The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement so that there is no net charge against Council Tax for the expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial 
instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the PCC 
Group. Details of these reserves are provided in the relevant note to the financial statements. 
 
Financial Instruments 
A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another.  The term ‘Financial Instrument’ covers both Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities and includes both the most straightforward Financial Assets and Liabilities 
such as trade receivables and trade payables and the most complex ones such as derivatives and 
embedded derivatives.  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has been adopted however the impact is 
minimal. 
 

• Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the PCC Group becomes party 

to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when 

the goods or services have been received. They are initially measured at fair value and are 

carried at their amoritised cost. 

For the borrowings that the force holds, this means that the amount presented in the Balance 

Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable, and the interest charged to the CIES is the 

amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement.  

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 

liability has been paid or has expired.  The fair value of financial liabilities is disclosed in the 

notes to the financial statements.   

• Financial assets 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the 

PCC Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are 

initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. For the 

financial assets held by the PCC Group this means that the amount presented in the Balance 

Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable, and interest credited to the CIES is the amount 

receivable for the year in the loan agreement.  

• Loans and receivables held at amortised cost 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

which are not quoted in an active market.  After initial recognition, they are measured at 
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amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised 

using the effective interest method. 

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, or failing that 

by reference to similar arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset to the initial fair value of the financial asset. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured 

as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised 

future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  The loss is 

recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset reduced directly. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 

be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 

previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the 

carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed 

what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised 

 

• Fair value measurement of non-financial assets 

The PCC Group measures its surplus assets at fair value at each reporting period. Fair value 
is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.  
 
The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset takes place either 
in the principal market for the asset, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset.  
 
The PCC Group measures the fair value of an asset using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest.  

 
Jointly Controlled Operations   
The PCC Group engages in jointly controlled operations by collaborative working with other parties 
to deliver a number of specific services on a regional basis.  
 
The PCC Group accounts in its financial statements for the assets it controls, the liabilities it incurs, 
the expenses that it incurs and the income it earns in relation to these arrangements. 
 
Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted     
The following standards and amendment to standards have been issued but not yet adopted: 
 

• The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rate (Lack of Exchangeability) (Amendments to 
IAS 21) 

• Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) 

• Changes to the Measurement of Non-Investment Assets within the 2025/26 CIPFA Code 
(Adaptations and Interpretations of IAS 16). This is purely an amendment to the CIPFA Code 
and not a change in accounting standard. 

 
The first two amendments are not expected to have any material impact on future financial statements 
of the PCC Group. 
 
The changes to the 2025/26 CIPFA Code in relation to the measurement of non-investment assets 
includes setting out three revaluation processes for operational property, plant and equipment which 
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require indexation for tangible non-investment assets and a requirement to value intangible assets 
using a historical cost approach. These changes have the same effect as requiring a change in 
accounting policy due to an amendment to standards.  
 
The PCC Group will review its current non-investment assets valuation policy for 2025/26 regarding 
these CIPFA Code changes.  
 
Accounting standards issued that have been adopted early 
There are no accounting standards issued that have been adopted early. 
 
Exceptional items 
Exceptional items shall be included in the costs of the service to which they relate and noted 
accordingly. 
 
Prior period adjustments 
Unless otherwise sanctioned by the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, material 
prior period adjustments shall result in restatement of prior year figures and disclosure of the effect. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 
Material events after the balance sheet date, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between 
the end of the reporting period and the date when Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue shall 
be disclosed as a note to the financial statements and the financial statements amended as required. 
Other events after the balance sheet date will be disclosed in a note with an estimate of the likely 
effect. 
 
Two types of event can be identified as: 
 

• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 

• Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of 
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a 
material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated 
financial effect. 

Value Added Tax (VAT) 
Most of the activities of the PCC Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does 
not apply.  Input tax on purchases is largely recoverable from His Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised 
purchase costs of property, plant and equipment.  Where output tax is charged or input tax is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
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1.  EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS FOR THE PCC GROUP 

The statements below show how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants and council tax) by the PCC Group in comparison 
with those resources consumed or earned by the PCC Group in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. They also show how this 
expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the PCC Group’s operating functions. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally 
accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.   
 
EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – PCC GROUP 
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2. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN FUNDING AND ACCOUNTING BASIS – PCC GROUP 
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3. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS FOR THE PCC 

The statements below show how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants and council tax) by the PCC in comparison with 
those resources consumed or earned by the PCC in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. They also show how this expenditure is 
allocated for decision making purposes between the PCC’s operating functions. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting 
practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – PCC 
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4. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN FUNDING AND ACCOUNTING BASIS – PCC 
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Note i – Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
This adds in depreciation and impairments in the service line and for: 
 

• Other Operating Expenditure – adjusts for losses on sale of assets. 

• Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure - the statutory charges for capital financing (i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue 

contributions) are deducted from income and expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 

• Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income – Capital grants are adjusted for income not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 

 
Note ii – Net change for the Pensions Adjustments 
This is the net change for the removal of pension contributions and IAS19 Employee Benefits related expenditure and income: 
 

• For service lines, this represents the removal of employer pension contributions as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and 

past service costs. 

• Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure – the net interest on the defined benefit liabilities is charged to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. 

 
Note iii – Other Differences 
These represent other differences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and amounts 
payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 
 

• For service lines, this represents the movement in the timing difference on employee benefits for accumulated absences. 

• Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income – adjustment is made for the movement in the timing difference on the Council Tax Collection Fund.
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5. INTERCOMPANY FUNDING 

As the Chief Constable has no resources with which to fulfil devolved responsibilities to provide a 
policing service, the expenditure is funded by the PCC. 
 
These transactions are reflected in the intra-group accounts of both entities. 
 
The tables below show the movement through the intra-group accounts within the respective Balance 
Sheets during 2024/25 and 2023/24 and show that there are no outstanding intra-group balances at 
the year end date, other than resulting from year end accounting adjustments in respect of payroll 
balances, as the PCC paid for all the financial resources consumed at the request of the Chief 
Constable and an intra-group adjustment was made to offset the Chief Constable’s consumption of 
resources.   
 
The funding covers the day to day expenses on an accruals basis as well as charges for operational 
assets consumed in the year. The funding does not cover IAS 19 pension charges and charges for 
compensated absences as these charges (in the Chief Constable’s Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement) are reversed in the Chief Constable’s Movement in Reserves Statement and 
charged to the Chief Constable’s unusable Pensions Reserve and Accumulated Absences 
Adjustment Account. 
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for the PCC and the PCC Group are 
at summary level. This is because the Net Cost of Policing sub-total within the PCC CIES includes 
not only the cost of administering the PCC itself, but also payment for PCC resources consumed at 
the request of the Chief Constable. The decision to account for this expenditure within the PCC Net 
Cost of Policing Services is in the same format that it is reported to management.  In contrast, in the 
Chief Constable’s CIES the Net Cost of Policing is nil, apart from the year end adjustments for 
pensions actuarial adjustments and accumulated absences, as the Resources consumed at the 
request of the Chief Constable are completely offset by the intra-group adjustment. 
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6. SUMMARY SPENDING DETAILS 

The statements below show the cost of providing services for the PCC Group for 2024/25 and 
2023/24. The costs have been split between the Chief Constable and the PCC to separately identify 
the resources consumed at the request of the Chief Constable from those costs exclusively incurred 
by the PCC. 
 

 
 
OPCC OPERATIONAL INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

 
The operational expenditure of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner is shown below. 
 

 
 
Third Party Payments comprise contributions made by the Commissioner in respect of community 
safety initiatives. 
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7. PENSIONS INCOME & EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
 
The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the CIES with the inclusion of the amount reflecting 
the net cost of services when they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are 
eventually paid as pensions. 
 
However, the charge that is required to be made against Council Tax is based on the cash payable 
in the year. The real cost of retirement benefits is deducted in the Statement of Movement in the 
General Fund Balance, and replaced with actual pensions paid/contributions. 
 
The following transactions have been made in the CIES and Statements of Movement in the General 
Fund Balance during the year: 
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8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

Other Operating Income and Expenditure includes the gain or loss on the sale of non-current assets 
during the year as follows: 
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9. FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure includes corporate items of income and 
expenditure which arise from the PCC Groups involvement in financial instruments and similar items.  
 
In the case of the PCC Group this includes both interest payable and receivable during the year, along 
with the net pensions interest cost. 
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10. TAXATION AND NON SPECIFIC GRANT INCOME 

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income contains all un-ringfenced grants and contributions, 
including council tax income, receivable during the year which cannot be identified to a particular 
service line within cost of services.  
 
All capital grants and contributions are included within this line, even if they are service specific. 
 

 
 
 
The Council Tax Income includes the actual income received in year (see Note 11) plus an adjustment 
for the difference between estimated and actual surplus/deficits on the collection fund.  
 
A breakdown of general government grants are included in Note 12 along with a breakdown of service 
specific revenue grants included within the cost of services in the CIES. 
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11. PRECEPTS AND COUNCIL TAX INCOME      

The precepts raised for the year are as follows; 
 

 
 
The Council Tax precept income collected from each of the Local Authorities for the financial year 
is: 
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12. GRANT INCOME 

The PCC Group receive a number of non-ringfenced general grants from central government. These 
grants are included within Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and are as follows; 
 

 
 
Additional service specific grants were received from numerous bodies, and are included as part of 
total income in cost of services.  Details of those grants that are £0.500m and above are shown below:  
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13. EXTERNAL AUDIT FEES 

 
The table above presents the external audit fees payable to Forvis Mazars LLP for 2024/25. 
 
As part of the auditor fee variation process ran by the PSAA, additional fees can be submitted by 
Forvis Mazars relating to additional work required. Any fee variations requested are included as ‘Fees 
due relating to prior years’ in the year of payment. 
 
As part of the Redmond Review into Local Government audit arrangements grant of £0.020m has 
been received for 2024/25 (0.020m 2023/24) to aid in funding additional audit fees incurred.  
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14. OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION AND EXIT PACKAGES 

OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION - BANDINGS 

 
The number of employees whose remuneration, excluding employer’s pension contributions, was 
£50,000 or more in bands of £5,000 was:   
 

 
 
The Officers disclosed separately in senior officers’ remuneration table below are included in the 
bands above. 
 
A number of employees work in shared services with other regional forces. Disclosure of such 
employees is made in the accounts of the force that holds the employment contract of those 
individuals. 
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OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION – SENIOR OFFICERS 
 

The remuneration paid to senior employees and senior police officers is as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 

 

In addition to the above the PCC Chief Finance Officer (Section 151) is seconded from Humberside 
Fire. Humberside Police and Crime Commissioner contribute towards 40% of their salary, NI and 
pension costs. In 2024/25 the force paid £51k for salary costs (2023/24 £24k) and £9k for pension costs 
(2023/24 £4k). The costs have increased in 2024/25 due to the 2023/24 only accounting for costs from 
their recruitment in October 2023.  
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OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION – EXIT PACKAGES 
 

The numbers of employee compulsory and voluntary exit packages agreed with total cost per band 
and total cost of the redundancies are set out below: 
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15. REGIONAL COLLABORATION  

REGIONAL COLLABORATION BOARD (RCB)    

 
The Regional Collaboration Programme was developed to bring opportunities to participating Forces 
across many policing activities whilst retaining local Police Forces, local identity and local 
accountability. 
 
A Regional Collaboration Board has governance of the arrangements. This Board comprises the four 
PCCs within the Yorkshire and Humberside Region together with their respective Chief Constables 
and Chief Executives. The arrangements are subject to agreement under Section 22A of the Police 
Act 1996 (as amended). 
 
Regional Collaboration is funded from contributions made by the four participating PCCs and the level 
of contribution from each PCC is dependent upon an assessment of the benefit to be derived from 
each specific project or initiative.  
 
The North East Collaboration Board has been established between Humberside, the three Yorkshire 
forces and Cleveland, Durham and Northumbria.  
 
LEAD FORCE COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
A Lead Force model has been adopted for each functional area of regional collaboration, with the 
Regional Collaboration Board having governance over all the arrangements. 
 
The PCC for Humberside has Lead Force responsibility within the regional programme for Underwater 
Search services.  
 
The Underwater Search Unit made a surplus of £0.7k in the financial year 2024/25 (Deficit £2.7k in 
2023/24) with the PCC for Humberside contributing £496k (£469k in 2023/24). 
 
The PCC for Humberside has made contributions during the year ended 31 March 2025 to other Lead 
Forces as follows: 
 

 
 
 
OTHER REGIONAL COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The PCC for Humberside collaborates in a two force partnership with the South Yorkshire Mayoral 
Combined Authority on the provision of Information Services.  The cost of the collaboration is shared 
based on the total size of the respective force budgets assessed using a measure of net revenue 
expenditure. The summary position for the joint operations is outlined below: 
 



Notes to the CIES – Regional Collaboration 

51 

 
 

 
In addition to the Information Services arrangement, the PCC has a collaboration agreement in place 
with South Yorkshire for the use of a number of Legal Service staff. Income received by the PCC for 
this arrangement in 2024/25 was £0.344m (2023/24 £0.226m) 
 
 
LOCAL COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Humberside Police and Humberside Fire Authority collaborate on a joint operation in respect of their 
emergency vehicle maintenance requirements, which are delivered by Emergency Services Fleet 
Management (Humberside) Ltd (ESFM), a company limited by guarantee which was established for 
that purpose. Humberside Police retain joint control of this company with Humberside Fire Authority. 
 
The Net Cost of ESFM Ltd in relation to the Humberside Police in 2024/25 was £1.993m (2023/24 
£2.054m), with a closing Net Assets figure of £0.317m (2023/24 £0.280m).  
 
Humberside Police provide Estates Management Services to Humberside Fire Authority on a lead 
Authority basis.  The Joint Estates Service (JES) provides premises repairs, regular maintenance, 
utility management and support for capital projects. Governance for the JES is provided by the JES 
board chaired by the Assistant Chief Officer (Resources).  The Area Manager of Prevention, 
Protection, Fleet and Estates from Humberside Fire and Rescue Service also sits on the board. The 
overall operational cost of the JES is £14.566m (2023/24 £16.870m) with income of £3.598m received 
from Humberside Fire and Rescue Service (2023/24 £3.771m) and other income of £1.129m received 
from other organisations (2023/24 £1.189m).  
 
In addition to the above, Humberside Fire Authority also provide the PCC with a Health and Safety 
service. In 2024/25 the PCC paid £0.158m for this service (2023/24 £0.154m). 
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16. ANALYSIS OF ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING AND FUNDING BASIS – PCC GROUP 

The table below provides a breakdown of the figure included in the Movement in Reserves Statement which adjusts the total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure recognised within the year to the resources available to the Group as specified by statutory provision.  
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17. ANALYSIS OF ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING AND FUNDING BASIS – PCC 
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18.  PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT  
 
The property, plant and equipment held on the PCC Group balance sheet can be split into a number 
of different asset categories as follows; 
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19. ASSET NUMBERS 

 
 
Details on the valuations of property held by the PCC Group can be found in Note 21 in the accounts.  
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

 
The Intangible Assets all relate to computer software which has been capitalised. 
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21. PROPERTY VALUATIONS 

 

 
The PCC property portfolio is valued on an annual basis by an external valuer with an effective date 
of 31 January 2025.  An impairment review is undertaken at the year end to ensure the value of 
property has not materially increased or decreased. Between 31 January 2025 and 31 March 2025 it 
was estimated that the value of DRC valuations within the 2024/25 rolling programme had increased 
by £0.771m. Therefore, the valuations for these properties have been amended to account for this 
increase in value.   
 
In 2024/25 the PCC carried out a rolling programme of valuations.  This includes the highest valued 
20% of assets on an annual basis, and the remaining property estate split by local authority area 
valued over a four year period.  
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22. LEASES 

Leases – Transition to IFRS 16 as at 1 April 2024 

 
In 2024/25 the Force has introduced 'IFRS 16 Leases' as required by the Code of Practice for Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 

 
The main impact of the new lease standard requirements is that for lease arrangements previously 
accounted for as operating leases, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability are to be 
brought into the force balance sheet as at 1 April 2024.  
 
Leases for items of low value, as defined by the force's accounting policies and leases that expire on 
or before 31 March 25 are exempt from the new arrangements. 
 
IFRS 16 has been applied retrospectively as required by the Code, with the cumulative effect 
recognised as at 1 April 24. This means that right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been 
calculated as if IFRS 16 has always applied but recognised in 2024/25 and not by adjusting prior year 
figures.  
 
Some practical expedients have been applied as required or permitted by the Code: 
 

• lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at 1 April 

24, discounted by the forces incremental borrowing rate at that date, 

• the weighted average of the incremental borrowing rates used to discount liabilities was 

5.04%, 

• right-of-use assets are measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted for any prepaid 

or accrued lease payments that were in the balance sheet on 31 March 24 - any initial direct 

costs have been excluded. 

• all leases were assessed as the whether they were onerous at 31 March 24, so right-of-use 

assets have not been subject to an impairment review. 

 
The Code states that an authority shall not reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the 
date of initial application of 1 April 2024. Except in relation to leases for nil consideration. The force 
has therefore as part of its transitional arrangements applied this practical expedient to all of its 
contracts, with IFRS 16 only being applied to contracts that were previously identified as leases under 
'IAS 17 Leases' and 'IFRC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease'. The force shall 
apply IFRS 16 to any new or amended contracts on or after 1st April 2024. 
 
All of the above has resulted in the following additions to the balance sheet as at 1st April 2024: 
 

• £1.569m Property, Plant and Equipment - land and buildings (Right-of-use assets) 

• £1.299m Non Current Creditors (Lease Liability) 

• £0.270m Current Creditors (Lease Liability) 

 
The newly recognised lease liabilities of £1.569m compare with the operating lease commitments of 
£1.820m at 31 March 24 accounted for under the old lease standard arrangements. When these are 
discounted to their present value of £1.618m (using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 24), 
there is a difference of £0.049m from the newly recognised lease liabilities. This is explained by the 
fact that the lease liabilities exclude amounts for leases of low value items and leases that will expire 
before 31 March 25. 
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Authority as Lessee – 2024/25 

The force lease contracts comprise of leases of operational land and buildings used as part of the 

overall force estate strategy. During 2024/25 the force had 13 individual contracts in place for 

leases which have been deemed to come under IFRS16 and are therefore included within the 

force balance sheet.  

Right of Use Assets: 

 
The table below shows the change in value of right-of-use assets held under leases by the force 

in 2024/25.  

 

Lease Liabilities: 
 
The table below shows the movement in both long and short term liabilities linked with leases 

held by the force. 
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Transactions under Leases 
 
The force incurred the following expenses and cash flows in relation to leases. 

 

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities 
 
The lease liabilities are due to be settled over the following time bands (measured at the 

undiscounted amounts of expected cash payments) 
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23. SUMMARY OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND SOURCES OF FINANCE 

The note below shows the movement in the Capital Financing Requirement due to capital expenditure 
for 2024/25, and the source of finance used. 
 
The Capital Financing Requirement is an indicator that authorities have to include within the suite of 
Prudential Indicators relating to capital finance in Local Authorities. 
 
It is a measure of the PCC Group’s underlying need to borrow for capital purpose. The PCC Group 
has decided to part fund capital by using prudential borrowing, this is reflected in the Capital Financing 
Requirement balance at the end of the financial year. 
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24. SHORT TERM DEBTORS AND CREDITORS 

 
SHORT TERM DEBTORS 
 

 
 
 
SHORT TERM CREDITORS 
 

 
 
 

The PCC ‘Other Police and Local Authorities’ creditors figure of £20.294m includes the 
intercompany creditor of £6.264m with the Chief Constable.  
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25. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 

Short term investments relate to those investments which are due to mature within the next 12 months. 
The movement in short term investments throughout the year is as follows; 
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26. BORROWING 

 
SHORT TERM BORROWING 

 
This relates to borrowing due for maturing within 12 months. 
 

 
 
 
LONG TERM BORROWING 

 
This relates to borrowing that will need to be repaid after more than one year. 
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27. USABLE RESERVES 

The PCC and PCC Group has five revenue reserves and one capital reserve: 
 
Change Management Reserve - This Reserve has been provided specifically to support initiatives 
that are aimed at securing improvements and will “pump prime” and meet the initial cost of investment 
in services. 
 
Partnership Reserve - This Reserve was created to allow the PCC/PCC Group to continue schemes 
that were previously funded by partner agencies and to support partnership work. 
 
Risk Management Reserve - This Reserve will allow the Chief Constable and the PCC to assist in 
meeting the cost of items highlighted through the Chief Constable’s and the PCC’s risk management 
processes. 
 
Prices and Pay Reserve – This Reserve has been provided to support increases in inflation that are 
in excess of the budgeted amount in the short-term.  For permanent inflationary pressures the 
increase will be incorporated into the Police and Crime Commissioners Medium-Term Resource 
Strategy. 
 
General Reserve - This Reserve is currently being maintained at 3% of the net revenue budget and 
is designed to cushion the PCC/PCC Group against unforeseen expenditure pressures. 
 
Capital Unapplied Reserve - This Reserve reflects capital grants and receipts that have been 
received but have yet to be used to fund capital expenditure. 
 
The movements on the usable reserves in the year are: 
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28. UNUSABLE RESERVES  

The breakdown of the unusable reserves held on the PCC Group/PCC balance sheet is as follows; 
 

 
 
PENSIONS RESERVE 

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. The PCC/PCC Group accounts for post employment benefits in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of 
service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment 
returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require 
benefits earned to be financed as the PCC/PCC Group makes employer’s contributions to pension 
funds or eventually pay any pensions for which they are directly responsible. The debit balance on 
the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and 
current employees and the resources the PCC/PCC Group has set aside to meet them. The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be 
paid. 
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CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 

 
The Capital Adjustment Account is credited with amounts set aside by the PCC/PCC Group to finance 
expenditure on non-current assets and absorbs the timing differences that might arise as a result of 
setting aside of resources being out of line with accounting charges for depreciation and impairment 
losses. 
 

 
 
REVALUATION RESERVE 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the PCC/PCC Group arising from increases in 
the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment. A transfer can be made from the Revaluation Reserve 
to the Capital Adjustment Account to reflect the amount of additional depreciation that has been 
charged due to increases in value. The balance is also reduced when assets with accumulated gains 
are revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost, or when assets with accumulated gains 
are disposed of and the gains are realised. 
 

 
 
 
 
COLLECTION FUND ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 

 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of 
Council Tax income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from 
Council Tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the 
General Fund from the Collection Fund. 
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ACCUMULATED ABSENCES ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 

 
The Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise 
on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the 
year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that 
the impact on the General Funding Balance is neutralised by transfers to/from the Account. 
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29. PROVISIONS 

PROVISIONS 
 

The PCC Group hold a number of provisions on its balance sheet as at the 31 March 2025.  
 
The provisions held are as follows: 
 
SHORT TERM PROVISIONS 
 
As at the end of March 2025 liabilities exist on a number of legal claims against the PCC Group. The 
exact amount and timing of any resulting claims are currently unknown, therefore an estimated 
provision of £1,472K (2023/24 £1,149k) has been allocated for by the PCC Group based on 
information held at the year end. 
 
A provision of £258k (2023/24 £nil) has been made at the year end for targeted variable payments 
due to be made under Regulation 34 of the Police Regulations 2003. The exact amount and the timing 
of these payments were unknown as at 31 March 2025, resulting in this provision.  
 
 
LONG TERM PROVISIONS 
 

A long-term provision of £183k (2023/24 £183k) exists as at the end of March 2025 for potential 
undercover claims raised. It is likely that there will be a transfer of economic benefit from PCCs to 
claimants, as claims are made, therefore a long-term provision for the estimated costs to the PCC 
Group has been created.  
 

As part of the introduction of IFRS16 a decommissioning provision has been created for any site 
restoration costs where an obligation already exists. The total provision in relation to decommissioning 
costs as at the end of March 2025 is £5k (2023/24 £nil). 
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

CIVIL CLAIMS 

 
A number of potential civil and other claims could be brought against the PCC Group. The current 
total estimated liability is £2,262k (2023/24 £1,291k).  The timing of these claims is very unpredictable 
and is likely to be over a number of years.   
 
REGIONAL WORKING – EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF 

 
The Regional Collaboration Board has agreed to the adoption of a lead force model to provide 
managers and staff/officers engaged in Regional Working with consistent Human Resources policy 
and practices. Under these arrangements police staff will be employed by the lead force on a 
permanent, substantive basis and Police officers will be seconded. 
 

The PCC for Humberside has agreed to indemnify other PCCs for its share of any costs in the event 
of any employment tribunal or civil court claims related to regional employment. This indemnity is 
unlimited. At this time, it is not possible to predict the value or timing of any obligations falling due as 
a result of this indemnity and so no provision has been made. 
 
McCLOUD PENSION 

 
In respect of the McCloud Pension case, claimants have lodged claims for compensation under two 
active sets of litigation, Aarons and Penningtons. Government Legal Department settled the injury to 
feelings claims for Aarons on behalf of Chief Officers without seeking any financial 
contributions.  Pecuniary loss claims have been stayed until the remedy is bought into force from 1 
October 2023. The settlement of the injury to feelings claims for Aarons sets a helpful precedent, 
therefore no liability in respect of compensation claims is recognised in these accounts.  As at 31 
March 2025, it is not possible to reliably estimate the extent or likelihood of Penningtons claims being 
successful, and therefore no liability in respect of compensation claims is recognised in these 
accounts. 

 
 



Notes to the Balance Sheet – Assets and Liabilities in Relation to Retirement Benefits 

71 

31. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN RELATION TO RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

The underlying assets and liabilities for retirement benefits of the PCC and PCC Group at 31 March 
2025 and 31 March 2024 are as follows: 
 

 
PENSION COMMENTARY 

The liabilities show the PCC’s and PCC Group’s long-term commitments to pay retirement 
benefits.  The total net liability of £1,569m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the PCC 
and PCC Group as recorded in the balance sheet, resulting in a negative overall balance of 
£1,499m in the PCC Group balance sheet.   
 
In 2024/25, Police and Local Government Pension Schemes have seen a decrease in the overall 
pension liability. This is primarily due to an increase in gains and losses from changes in financial 
assumptions, resulting from a significant increase in discount rates compared to last year which 
places a lower value on obligations.  
 
A continuation in high discount rates has led to a pension surplus on the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) in 2024/25 of £117.972m (2023/24 £63.045m). However, IAS19 
restricts, by the way of an asset ceiling, the amount of pension asset surplus which is to be 
disclosed on an authority’s balance sheet. It was deemed by the force’s actuary that the net asset 
ceiling for 2024/25 was £0m (2023/24 £nil), therefore a net asset ceiling adjustment has been 
incorporated into the force balance sheet of £118.477m. This results in an overall liability of 
£0.505m for the LGPS. This relates to the liability held for unfunded obligations which are not 
included within the net asset ceiling requirements.  
 
The last actuarial valuation on the Police Pension Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2020 
and was reported during 2023/24. Resulting amendments to contribution rates have been made 
for 2024/25.  The last actuarial review was carried out on the LGPS as at 31 March 2022.  The 
next actuarial review takes place as at 31 March 2025.  
 
In June 2023 the High Court ruled in the case of Virgin Media Ltd vs NTL Pension Trustees. The 
ruling was that certain pension scheme rule amendments were invalid if they were not 
accompanied by the correct actuarial confirmation. The High Court ruling has since been 
appealed. On 25 July 2024 the Court of Appeal upheld the decision of the High Court. On 5 June 
2025 the government announced that relevant certificates have been located in respect of the 
2014 reforms. No update has been received as to whether the certificate in respect of the 2008 
reforms has been located. The Government has announced that it will introduce legislation to 
give affected pension schemes the ability to retrospectively obtain written actuarial confirmation 
that historic benefit changes met the necessary standards. Due to the ongoing uncertainty around 
this case and the unknown impact on public service schemes, no allowance has currently been 
taken into account within the PCC balance sheet. Management will continue to monitor any 
developments on this case and consider the impact where further information is made available. 
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32. RECONCILIATION OF PRESENT VALUE OF SCHEME ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 
RECONCILIATION OF SCHEME LIABILITIES 
 

 
 

The expected budgeted contributions to the LGPS for 2025/26 are £8.1m (2024/25 was £7.8m) and 
£33m for the Police Pension Fund (2024/25 was £33.7m). 
 
RECONCILIATION OF SCHEME ASSETS 
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33. BASIS FOR ESTIMATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of 
the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, 
salary levels etc. 
 

The Police Schemes have been assessed by the Government Actuaries Department and the Local 
Authority Scheme, which is administered by the East Riding of Yorkshire Council, has been assessed 
by Hymans Robertson, actuaries.  
 
The main assumptions used in their calculations have been: 
 

 
 
 
The sensitivity of scheme liabilities to changes in the main assumptions are: 
 

 
 

 
 
Opposite changes in assumptions would produce equal and opposite changes in scheme liabilities. 
Doubling the changes in assumptions would produce approximately double the change in scheme 
liabilities. 
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The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the 
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the 
assumption analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain consistent. The principal 
demographic assumption is the longevity assumption (i.e. member life expectancy). For sensitivity 
purposed, the actuary estimates that a one-year increase in life expectancy would approximately 
increase the employer’s defined benefit obligation by around 2.5-4%. In practice the actual cost of a 
one-year increase in life expectancy will depend on the structure of the revised assumption (i.e. if 
improvements to survival rates predominantly apply to younger or older ages). The approach taken in 
preparing the sensitivity analysis is consistent with that adopted in the previous year.  
 
The weighted average duration of the scheme liabilities are: 
 

 
  

The Police Pension Schemes have no assets to cover the liabilities incurred. 
 
Assets in the LGPS are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments, and consist of 
the following categories, by proportion of the assets held by the fund:    
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34. ASSUMED MORTALITY RATES 

Mortality rates are projected using published tables.  Future mortality improvements are in line with 
the 2014-based UK principal population projections. 
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35. REMEASUREMENTS OF THE NET DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITY 

The IAS19 remeasurement movements on the Pensions Reserve can be analysed into the following 
remeasurement categories, measured as absolute amounts and as percentages of assets or 
liabilities at 31 March:   
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another.  The term ‘Financial Instrument’ covers both Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities and includes both the most straight forward Financial Assets and Liabilities 
such as trade receivables and trade payables and the most complex ones such as derivatives and 
embedded derivatives.  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has been adopted however the impact on the 
Financial Statements is minimal due to the use of only simple financial instruments.   
 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITES 

 
Trade creditors and debtors included as financial instruments are less than the creditors and debtors 
included in the Balance Sheet as those that are not contractual or are not due to be settled in cash or 
by another financial instrument are excluded. 
 
The carrying and fair value amounts of financial liabilities and assets held by the PCC Group on the 
Balance Sheet are: 
 

 
 
These liabilities relate to loans from the PWLB and local authorities, which are included in the Balance 
Sheet as outstanding principal (carrying value) and accrued interest, shown separately within current 
liabilities.  Trade creditors and other payables are shown at the invoiced amounts. 
 
The fair value is lower than the carrying amount because the PCC Group’s portfolio of loans includes 
a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is lower than the rates available for similar 
loans in the markets at the balance sheet date. The fair value measurement for loans payable has 
been provided by the PWLB based on their premature repayment rates. Other Loans represents short 
term borrowing held at fair value. 
 
The financial liabilities held by the force measured at fair value have been classified as Level 1; quoted 
prices in active markets for identical liabilities. 
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Financial Assets include temporary investments that have fixed or determinable payments, but are 
not quoted in an active market, and trade debtors and receivables based on the invoiced/billed 
amounts. 
 
The nature and the type of Financial Instruments held by the PCC/PCC Group are not significant in 
relation to the overall financial position of the PCC/PCC Group. 
 
RECLASSIFICATION/DE-RECOGNITION - The PCC/PCC Group has not reclassified any Financial 
Instruments during the year as to how they are measured, i.e. at amortised cost rather than fair value 
and no financial assets have been transferred during the year, in such a way that part or all do not 
qualify for recognition. No early repayment has been undertaken. 
 
COLLATERAL - The PCC/PCC Group has not pledged any financial assets as collateral for liabilities 
during the year and holds no collateral as security.  
 
EFFECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ON THE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
STATEMENT 

 
Charges and income to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in relation to 
Financial Instruments are made up as follows: 
 

 
 
FINANCIAL RISKS 

 
The PCC’s and PCC Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. 
 
The PCC Group's overall Risk Management Policy in relation to financial instruments is embedded 
within the Treasury Management Strategy Statement.  The Policy has been prepared to include the 
requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management.  In relation to specific risk 
categories set out above, the PCC Group’s position is as follows:  
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the PCC Group. 
 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to 
the PCC Group's customers. 
 
The PCC Group regards the prime objective of its Treasury Management activities to be the security 
of the principal sums it invests. 
 
Deposits are made in accordance with the treasury management practices and associated schedules 
approved as part of the treasury management policy statement. 
   
Customers of the PCC Group are assessed, taking into account their latest financial standing and 
credit for customers is not generally allowed. 
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The Debtors at 31 March 2025, includes £24.7m that relates to Central and Local Government 
organisations, and as such is not classed as a credit risk.  The profile of the remaining debtors which 
are monitored on a regular basis is set out below:   
 

 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the possibility that the PCC Group might not have funds available to meet its 
commitments to make payments. 
 
As at 31 March 2025 the PCC Group had balances on revenue reserves of £17.236m, cash and cash 
equivalents of £4.0m and deposits with banks and financial institutions of £2.0m.  The PCC Group 
also has access to borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).  There is therefore no 
significant risk that the PCC Group would be unable to meet its financial commitments.   
 
As part of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement the PCC Group considers the maturity 
analysis of borrowings at the beginning of the financial year in order to manage the profile of debt 
repayable.  The position at 31 March 2025 can be found within Note 25 of these accounts. 
 

Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the possibility that financial loss might arise for the PCC Group as a result of changes 
in such measures as interest rates and stock market movements. 
 
The PCC Group is not exposed to specific risk in terms of interest movements as both borrowings 
and investments are at fixed rates.  The PCC Group manages its exposure to fluctuations in interest 
rates with a view to containing its costs within approved budgets within the arrangements set out in 
its Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 
 
Fluctuations in market interest rates are a factor that is considered when formulating the PCC Group’s 
MTRS which provides a framework for investment and borrowing decisions. 
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37. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON-CASH MOVEMENTS 
 

 
 
ADJUSTMENTS FOR INVESTING AND FINANCING CASH MOVEMENTS 
 

 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 
 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 
 

 
 
 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
 

The below table discloses the cash flow of interest received and paid during the year. 
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS          

In accordance with the reporting requirements of IAS 24, the Group is required to disclose details of 
material transactions with related parties, that is bodies or individuals that have the potential to influence 
the Group or to be controlled or influenced by the Group. 
 
There are direct relationships between the PCC and several central and local government organisations, 
the main ones being the Home Office (Police Grant), the Ministry of Justice (Grant) and the four Unitary 
Authorities (Council Tax/Precepts).  These are disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements. 
 
The PCC has direct control over the Group’s finances and is responsible for setting priorities through the 
Police and Crime Plan. The Chief Constable retains operational independence and operates within the 
budget set by the PCC, to deliver the Force aims and objectives set out in the Police and Crime Plan. 
Section 28 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 requires that local authorities covered 
by the police area must establish a Police and Crime Panel (PCP) for that area. The PCP scrutinises the 
decisions of the PCC, reviews the Police and Crime Plan and has a right of veto over the precept. 
 
There are also direct relationships between the PCC and other PCCs within the Yorkshire and Humberside 
region and PCCs in Cleveland, Durham and Northumbria in respect of Regional Collaboration 
arrangements. Details are disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside is a councillor for Barton Town Council. During 
2024/25 no transactions were made between the PCC and the town council (£nil in 2023/24).  
 
The Chief Constable is represented on the National Police Chiefs Council which is an independent 
professional body of chief police officers and senior staff equivalents. 
 
The Deputy Chief Constable and the Assistant Chief Officer of the force are Directors of the Emergency 
Services Fleet Management (Humberside) Ltd. Emergency Services Fleet Management (Humberside) Ltd 
is a joint operation that provides vehicle maintenance services to Humberside Police and Humberside Fire 
Authority. The company supplied services with a value of £2,451,255 to Humberside Police during 2024/25 
(£2,291,715 in 2023/24).  The PCC Group leases part of its Melton workshop facility to the company for 
which a rent of £198,799 was charged in 2024/25 (£198,799 2023/24). Other income received totaled 
£35,527 in 2024/25 (£42,591 2023/24).  Details of Humberside Police’s share of income, expenditure, 
assets and liabilities of this joint operation are disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside, Deputy Chief Constable and Chief Finance Officer 
for the Chief Constable are all board members for the North East Business Resilience Centre, a police-led 
not-for-profit organization that provide cyber security support to small businesses. During 2023/24 a total 
of £200,000 in NPCC regional cyber grant payments were made to the organization from the PCC Group 
(£113,857 2023/24).  

 
The Chief Executive of the OPCC is a non-executive director on the board of Ongo Homes, a social 
housing provider in North Lincolnshire. During 2024/25 no transactions were made between the PCC 
Group and Ongo Homes (£nil in 2023/24).  
 
The spouse of the Chief Finance Officer for the Police and Crime Commissioner is the finance director for 
the safety business unit at NEC Software Solutions. During 2024/25 payments of £101,854 were made by 
the force to NEC Software for IT services (£105,322 in 2023/24). 
 
The Chief Finance Officer and the Deputy Chief Finance Officer to the PCC are seconded from 
Humberside Fire and Rescue Services for 40% of their time. The Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Humberside contributes towards all relevant pay and employee costs for this proportion 
of their time. The Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside is also a member of the Humberside 
Fire Authority. The joint operations ran by both the PCC Group and Humberside Fire are detailed in note 
15 to the financial statements.  
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A survey of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside, Senior Staff within the OPCC, the Chief 
Constable/Senior Officers of Humberside Police and parties related to them was undertaken in preparing 
these financial statements. Except as disclosed above, no material related party transactions were 
identified. 
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39. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

The unaudited draft Statement of Accounts were issued on 30 June 2025.  The PCC Group reviewed 
events occurring between 31 March and the issue date, and did not identify any additional events that 
were adjusting events in respect of conditions existing at the Balance Sheet date.  
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POLICE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting sets out the accounting treatment for the Police 
Pension Fund Accounts in the financial year 2024/25. 
 
The Chief Constable is responsible for administering the Police Pension Fund in accordance with the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. All payments and receipts are made to and from 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside’s (“PCC”) Police Fund. These Police Pension 
Fund Accounts do not form part of the Chief Constable’s or PCC Group Financial Statements. 

 
TRANSACTIONS RELATING TO RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the PCC Group 
offers retirement benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, 
the PCC Group has a commitment to make the payments that need to be disclosed at the time that 
employees earn their future entitlement. 
 
The PCC Group participates in the following pension schemes:   
 
The Police Pension Schemes for police officers – three schemes where provided for police officers, 
the 1987 Scheme, the 2006 scheme and the 2015 scheme. From 1 April 2022 all active scheme 
members have been transferred into the 2015 scheme due to the end of the police pension remedy 
period. The 1987 and 2006 schemes are now closed to future pension build up.  
 
The 2015 pension scheme has officers’ contributions in a range of 12.44 to 13.78% (2023/24 12.44 
to 13.78%). All schemes are unfunded schemes, i.e. no investment assets are built up to meet the 
pensions liabilities and cash has to be generated to meet actual pensions payments as they eventually 
fall due.  
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme for police staff, administered by the East Riding of Yorkshire 
Council – is a funded scheme, i.e. the PCC and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated 
at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. 
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The accounting and funding arrangements for Police Pensions are detailed below: 
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NOTES TO THE POLICE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
 
The Police Officer Pension Schemes make up the account: 
 
• 1987 Police Pension Scheme (no longer holding active members) 

• 2006 Police Pension Scheme (no longer holding active members) 

• 2015 Police Pension Scheme 

PCCs are obliged to include the Pension Fund Account in their Statement of Accounts in accordance 
with regulation 7(1)(d) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003.  The Fund is administered and 
managed by the Humberside Police Finance Section. 
 
The fund is charged with all pensions expenditure in accordance with Home Office guidance, with 
income being employee contributions, employer contributions, which for 2024/25 was 35.3% of 
pensionable pay (2023/24 31%). 
 
Other income items within the fund are transfer payments from other pension schemes and a capital 
charge that is twice the average pensionable pay of officers that retire on ill health. 
 
The Home Office provide a pension “top up” grant to fund differences on the fund account, 80% is 
received up front for the relevant financial year, with the balance provided on submission of the PCC’s 
financial statements. 
 
There has been an adjustment of 4.3% to the cash flow to the Police Pension Fund due to the increase 
in the employer contribution rate from 31% to 35.3% being reflected in an increase in HM Treasury 
pensions top up funding of £3,917k (2023/24 £2,262k). 
 
There are no investment assets, the fund is balanced to nil at the yearend by either a contribution 
from the Police Fund, or if a surplus balance on the fund, a transfer to the Police Fund. 
 
The fund does not account for benefits payable in the future (IAS 19 Employee Benefits), which is a 
divergence from the accounting policy for the Police Fund Account as stated in the statement of 
accounting policies. Details of the long term pension obligations and the cost of pensions can be 
found in the PCC Group’s financial statements. 
 
Employees’ and employer’s contribution levels are based on percentages of pensionable pay set 
nationally by the Home Office and are subject to triennial revaluation by the Government Actuary’s 
Department. 
 
The responsibility for future pension benefits still lies with the PCC Group, through the Police Fund 
Account.  The responsibility for amounts due to/from the Fund Account and the Home Office is shown 
within the Police Fund, not the Pensions Fund. 
 
As previously stated the Chief Constable is responsible for administering the Police Pension Fund in 
accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. All payments and receipts are 
made to and from the PCCs Police Fund. As such, the Chief Constable and the PCC are the only 
related parties to the Fund and all the transactions shown in the Police Pension Fund Accounts have 
been processed through the PCC. 
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GLOSSARY OF ACCOUNTING TERMS 
 
The PCC and PCC Group has adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
based Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting as its standard basis of accounting. 
 
Definitions of accounting terms used are given below: 

 

 
Term 

 
Definition 
 

Accounting period The period of time covered by the financial statements, normally a period 
of twelve months. 

Accruals basis Under the accruals concept, expenses are recognised when incurred, not 
when the cash is actually paid out, and revenue is recognised when it is 
earned, not when the cash is actually received. 

Agency cost Services which are performed by or for another authority or public body, 
where the agent is reimbursed for the cost of the work done.  

Amortisation The term used for depreciation of intangible assets such as the annual 
charge in respect of computer licenses the PCC/ PCC Group has 
purchased. 

Asset An item owned or leased by the PCC/ PCC Group, which has a value, for 
example, land and buildings, vehicles, equipment, cash. 

Assets held for sale Assets are held for sale if their value will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. 

Balance Sheet This represents a summary of all the assets and liabilities of the PCC/ PCC 
Group. 

Capital expenditure Expenditure on new assets or on the enhancement of existing assets so 
as to prolong their useful life or enhance value. 

Capital Financing 
Account  

This account represents amounts set aside from revenue or capital 
receipts to finance expenditure on property, plant and equipment or for 
the repayment of external loans and certain other capital financing 
transactions. 

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) 

The Capital Financing Requirement is a measure of the extent to which 
the PCC/ PCC Group needs to borrow to support capital expenditure. It 
does not necessarily relate to the actual amount of borrowing at any point 
in time.  

Capital receipts Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment. 

Carry overs These are underspends at the end of the financial year, which are carried 
forward into the next financial year to support that year’s expenditure 
plans. 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash includes cash held in bank accounts and cash in hand. Cash 
equivalents are assets that can be readily converted into cash such as 
deposits and certain short term investments. 

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  This is the 
main professional accountancy body relating to the public sector. 

Collection Fund Precept Income is collected on behalf of the PCC by the four billing 
Authorities (East Riding of Yorkshire Council; Kingston upon Hull City 
Council; North East Lincolnshire Council and North Lincolnshire Council).  
The precept income is then paid to the PCC as Precept Income. 

Contingent asset or 
liability 

An asset or liability that is not recognised in the financial statements due 
to the level of uncertainty surrounding it but is disclosed as it is possible 
that it may result in a future inflow or outflow of resources. 
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Creditors Amounts owed by the PCC/ PCC Group for goods received or services 
rendered but not yet paid for at the end of the financial year. 

Current asset  or 
liability 

An asset or liability that the PCC/ PCC Group expect to hold or discharge 
for a period of less than one year from the Balance Sheet date. 

Debtors 
 

Sums of money due to the PCC/ PCC Group for work done or services 
supplied but not received at the end of the financial year. 

Deferred liabilities 
 

Liabilities which by arrangement are payable beyond the next year at some 
points in the future or paid off by an annual sum over a period of time. 

Depreciation The accounting charge representing the use of property, plant and 
equipment assets which spreads the cost or value of the asset over its 
useful life. 

Employee benefits All forms of consideration given to employees for services rendered. These 
are salaries and wages, social security costs (national insurance), 
superannuation contributions, paid sick leave, paid annual and long 
service leave and termination payments. 

Financial 
instruments 

Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another. 

Going concern basis 
 

The underlying assumption used in producing the financial statements that 
the PCC/ PCC Group will continue to operate for at least 12 months from 
the Balance Sheet date. 

Impairment The fall in the value of an asset. 

Income Received in 
Advance 

Income received that should be classed as a benefit in the next financial 
year. 

Intangible assets Capital expenditure which does not create a tangible asset. 

Inventories Stocks held by the PCC/ PCC Group such as uniforms, fuel etc. 

Leases A method of financing expenditure over a period of time. Under IFRS16 
assets leased into the force are classified as Right of Use assets on the 
balance, with a corresponding lease liability. 

Liability An amount owing to a third party such as a loan or unpaid invoice from a 
supplier. 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) 

The Minimum Revenue Provision is the amount required by statute that 
the PCC/ PCC Group must fund to cover the redemption of external debt, 
including any supported or unsupported borrowing used to fund capital; 
the MRP amount being equal to the capital expenditure funded by the 
borrowing over the expected life of the assets. 

Medium Term 
Resource Strategy 
(MTRS) 

The MTRS covers a 5 year period and describes the financial direction of 
the Chief Constable and the PCC capturing known and estimated funding, 
financial pressures, staffing resources and development needs as well as 
seeking to identify financial risks. It is an indication of the likely direction of 
financial planning over the next year. 

Net assets Total assets less total liabilities. 

Non-current asset or 
liability 

An asset or liability that the PCC/ PCC Group expects to hold or discharge 
for a period of more than one year from the Balance Sheet date. 

Non Distributed 
Cost 

This is where overheads are not charged or apportioned to activities within 
the SeRCOP service expenditure analysis. 

Precept A levy which the PCC makes through the Council Tax to pay for services. 

Prepayment 
 

Where an amount of expenditure is paid in the current financial year, but 
the goods or services are a benefit in the next/following year. 

Provision An amount set aside to provide for a liability which is likely to be incurred 
but the exact amount and the date on which it will arise are uncertain. 

Prudential 
Borrowing 

This is the borrowing as part of funding of capital expenditure, where no 
actual loan is taken out to match the element of expenditure incurred. 
The affect is shown through the Capital Financing Requirement and is the 
amount to be funded when all other funding types i.e. capital grant, 
revenue, capital receipts etc. have been used. 
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Remeasurements of 
the Net Defined 
Benefit Liability 
 

For a defined benefit pension scheme, the changes that arise because : 
events have not coincided with actuarial assumptions made for the last 
valuation (experience gains and losses) or the actuarial assumptions 
have changed. 

Reserves  General reserves are accumulated balances available to support revenue 
or capital spending and meet unforeseen events. Earmarked reserves are 
amounts set aside for an agreed purpose in one financial year and carried 
forward to meet expenditure in future years. 

Revenue 
expenditure 

Spending on day to day items, including salaries, premises costs and 
supplies and services. 

The Code 
 

The Code of Practice published by CIPFA, relating to Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom and is issued each year. 

Unrealised gains 
and losses 
 
 

Unrealised gains and losses are those which have been recognised by the 
PCC/PCC Group in its financial statements but are only potential gains as 
they have yet to be realised, such as rises and falls in the value of land 
and buildings due to changes in the property market. The gain or loss only 
becomes realised when the property is sold. 
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Acronyms and Abbreviations 
 

CARE Career Average Revalued Earnings 

CIES Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

ESFM Emergency Services Fleet Management 

IAS International Accounting Standards 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

JES Joint Estates Services 

LASAAC Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee 

LGPS Local Government Pension Scheme 

MRP Minimum Revenue Provision 

MTRS Medium Term Resource Strategy 

NPCC National Police Chiefs Council 

OPCC Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

PCC Police and Crime Commissioner 

PCP Police and Crime Panel 

PCSO Police Community Support Officer 

PRSRA Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 

PWLB Public Works Loans Board 

SeRCOP Service Reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities 

VAT Value-Added Tax 

VFM Value for Money 

 
 


